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REPLY TO THE ATTENTION OF:

Mr. John Cappy

President

Outlook Group Corp.

1180 American Drive
Neenah, Wisconsin 54956

Re:  Consent Agreement and Final Order

Quitlook Group Corp.
Docket No: RCRA-05-2017-6013

Dear Mr. Cappy:
Enclosed please find an original signed fully-executed Consent Agreement and Final Order

(CA¥O) in resolution of the above case. The original was filed on | 2. 207
the Regional Hearing Clerk (RHC). A

with

Please pay the civil penalty in the amount of  $ 10,845 in the manner prescribed in
paragraph(s) 99 of the CAFO, and reference all checks with the docket number

RCRA-05-2017-0013 . Also, enclosed is a Notice of Securities and Exchange Commission
Registrant’s Duty fo Disclose Environmenial Legal Proceedings. Thank you for your
cooperation 1n resolving this matter.

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this matter, please contact Bryan Gangwisch, of
my staff, at 312-886-0989. .

Sincerely, - w"‘i

7 .07

; & !/ .,r') / s 7
e z?ﬁﬂﬂr/
Ga }A ¥ Victorine, Chief
RERA Branch

Enclosures

ce: Steven Sisbach (steven.sisbach@wisconsin.gov) (w/CAFQ)
Michael Ellenbecker (michael.ellenbecker@wisconsin.gov) (w/CAFQO)

Mecgﬁciedt’ﬂecgicﬁia%ie 2 Printed with Vegetable Oil Based Inks on 100% Recycled Paper (100% Post-Consumer}



NOTICE OF SECURITEES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION REGISTRANTS’ DUTY
TO DISCLOSE ENVIRONMENTAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Securities and Exchange Commission regulations require companies registered with the SEC {e.g.,
publicly traded companies) to disclose, on at least a quarterly basis, the existence of certain administrative
or judicial proceedings taken against them arising under Federal, State or local provisions that have the
primary purpose of protecting the environment. Instruction 5 to ltem 103 of the SEC’s Regulation 5-K
(17 CFR 229.103) requires disclosure of these environmental legal proceedings. For those SEC
registrants that use the SEC’s “small business issuer” reporting system, Instructions [-4 to Item 103 of the
SEC’s Regulation S-B (17 CFR 228.103) requires disclosure of these environmental Jegal proceedings.

If you are an SEC registrant, yon have a duty to disclose the existence of pending or known to be
contemplated environmental legal proceedings that meet any of the following criteria (17 CFR
229.103(5)(A)-(C)):
Al
A. Such proceeding is material to the business or financial condition of the registrant;
B. Such proceeding involves primarily a claim for damages, or involves potential monetary sanctions,
capital expenditures, deferred charges or charges to income and the amount involved, exclusive of
interest and costs, exceeds 10 percent of the current assets of the registrant and 1ts subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis; or :
C. A governmental authority is a party to such proceedmg and such proceeding involves potential
monetary sanctions, unless the registrant reasonably believes that such proceeding will result mno -
. monetary sanctions, or in monetary sanctions, exclusive of interest and costs, of less than $100,000;
provided, however, that such proceedings which are similar in nature may be grouped and described
generically. '

Specific information regarding the environmental legal proceedings that must be disclosed is set forth in
Item 103 of Regulation S-K or, for registrants using the “small business issuer™ reporting system, Item
103(a)-(b) of Regulation S-B. If disclosure is required, it must briefly describe the proceeding, “including
the name of the court or agency in which the proceedings are pending, the date mstituted, the principal
parties thereto, a description of the factual basis alleged to underlie the proceedings and the relief sought.”

You have been identified as a party to an environmental legal proceeding to which the United States
government 18, or was, a party. If you are an SEC registrant, this environmental legal proceeding may trigger,
or may already have triggered, the disclosure obligation under the SEC regulations described above.

This notice is being provided to inform you of SEC registrants’ duty to disclose any relevant environmental
legal proceedings to the SEC. This notice does not create, modify or interpret any existing legal obligations, it
is not intended to be an exhaustive description of the legally applicable requirements and it is not a substitute
for regulations published in the Code of Federal Regulations. This notice has been issued to you for
information purposes only. No determination of the applicability of this reporting requirement fo your
company has been made by any governimental entity. You should seek competent counsel in determining the
applicability of these and other SEC requirements to the environmental legal proceeding at issue, as well as
any other proceedings known to be contempiated by governmental authorities.

If you have any questions about the SEC’s environmental disclosure requirements, please contact the SEC
Office of the Special Senior Counsel for Disclosure Operations at (202) 942-1888.



UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

. REGIONS
Tn the Matter of: J Docket No. RCRA-05-2017-0013
OCutlook Grenp Corp. Y. Proceeding to Commence and Conclude
Neenah, Wisconsin, = 0 ) an Action to Assess a Civil Penalty
: ) Under Section 3008(a) of the Rescurce
< =} ©  Conservation and Recovery Act,
Respondent. ¥ 42 U8.C. § 6928(a)
- |

Consent Agoveement and Final Order

Preliminary Statement

1.  This is an administrative action commenced and concluded under Section 3008(a)
of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended, also known as the Resource ConSérvationlaud
Recovery Act (RCRA), 42 U.S.C. § 6923(a), and Sections 22.13(bY and 22.18(b)(2) and (3) of
the Consolidated Rules of Practice Governing the Administrative Assessment of Civil Penaliies
and fhe Revocation/Termination o.r Suspension of Permits -(Consolidated Rules) as codified at
40 C.F.R. Part 22, -

2. The Complainant is the Director of the Land and Chemicals Division, United States
Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA), Region 5. |

3. U.S.EPA provided notice of commencement of this action to the State of Wisconsin
pursuant to Section 3008{a)(2) of RCRA, 42 US.C. § 65928(2)2).

4. RESpUﬁdfmt is Outlook Group Corp., a corporation doing business in thé State of
Wisconsin,
5.  Where the parties agree to settle one or more causes of action before the filing of a

complaint, the administrative action may be commenced and concluded simultaneously by the



issuance of a consent agreement and final order {CAFO)-. 40 CER. § 22.13(b).

6. The parties agree that settling this action without the filing of a complaint or the
adjudication of any issue of fact or law Isin their interest and in the public interest. |

77. Respondent consents to the assessment 0f the civil penalty speciﬁéd in this CAF(O,
and to the terms of this CAFQ.

Jurisdiction and Waiver of Righi fo Hearing

8. Jurisd.;iction for this action is conferred vpon U.S. EPA by ‘Secrtions 2002(a)(1),
3006(b), and 3008 of RCRA,; 42 U.8.C. §§ 6912(a)1), 6926(b), and 6928.

9. Respondent admits the jurisdictionﬁl allegations. in this CAFO and neither admits
nor denies the factual allegations in this CAFO.

10. Respondent waives ifs right to request a hearing as prméided at40 CF.R. § 22 1 3(c),
any right to contest the allegations in this CAFQ, and ifs right to appeal this CATO.

11. Respondent certifios that it is complying fully with RERA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 —
- 6992k, and the reguiations at 40 C.F.R. Parts 260 - 279.

Statutory and Regulatory Backeround

12. U.S. EPA has promulgated regulations, codified at 40 C.F.R. Parts 260 through 279,
~ poverning generators and transporters of hazardous waste and facilitieé that treat, store, and |
7 dispose of hazardous waste, pursuant to Sections 3002, 3003, and 3004 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§
6922, 6923, and 6924. |

13, Pursuant to Section 3066 of RCRA, 42 U.8.C. § 6926, the Administrator of U.S.
EPA may authorize a state fo admjnister- the RCRA hazardous waste program in lien of the
federal program when the Administrator finds that the state program meets certain conditions.

Any violation of régulations promulgated pursuant to Subtitle C (Sections 3001-3023 of RCRA,



42 U.S.C. §§ 6921-6939¢) or any state provision &uthorized pursuant to Section 3006 of RCRA,
conslitutes z violation of RCRA, subject to the assessment of civil penalties and issnance of
gompliance orders as provided in Section 3008 of RCRA, 42 U.5.C. § 6928.

- 14. Pursvant to Section 3006(b) of RCRA, 42 U.8.C. § 6926(b), the Adﬁﬁnistmtor of
U.S. BPA granted the State of Wisconsin final au‘;horization to administer a staté hazardous
waste program in lieu of the federai government’s base RCRA program effe;ti;re fanuary 3L,
1986. 51 Fe&. Reg. 3783 (January 31, 1986).

15. Under Section 3008(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), U.S. EPA may issuc an
order assessing a civil penalty for any past or current violation, requiring compliance
immediately or within a specified period of time, or both. -

16. The Administrator of U.S. EPA may assess a civil penalty of up to $37,500 per day
for each violation of Subtitle C of RCRA that occurred after January 12, 2009 throu.gﬁ November

2, 2015, pursuant to Section 3008(a) of RCRA, 42 U.8.C. § 6928(a), and 40 C.F R, Part 19.

Factual Aliegations and Aleged Violations

17. Respondent was and is a “person” as defined by WAC NR 660.10(90), 40 CFR.
§ 260.10, and Section 1004(1 5) of RCRA, 42 U.5.C. § 6903(13).

18. Respondent is an “owner” or “éperator,” as those terms are defined under WACNR
660.10(87) and (88), and 40 CF.R. § 260.10, of é facility located at 1180 American Drive,
Neenah, Wisconsin 54956

19, The facility consists of land and structures, other appultenanceé, and improvements
on the land used for treating, storing, or disposing of hazardous waste.

20. Respondent’s Facility is a “facility,” as that term is defined under WACNR

660.10(43)(a) and 40 C.F.R. § 260.10.



21.  Atall times relevant to this Complaint, Respondent performed commercial printing
and labeling processes, carton manufacturing, and contract packaging. The printing and labeling
processes include the following operatimﬁ: shegt fed off-set printing presses; flexo label

 presses; digital printing; rotogravure prinfing; plate mounting; and ink jet printing.

22. The commercial printing and labeling processes generated waste solvent based inks
and coa’ehigs; waste ultraviolet (UV) based inks and coatings; waste water based inks and
coatings; waste solvent wash ﬁp; waste distillation excess solution; spent rags and personal
protective equipment (ppe); and waste paper. Respondent collected generated hazardous waste
in 55-gallon drums and managed the dru_ms in satellite accumulation arcas (SAA) and
accumulated them in the 90-day hazardous waste storage area of the Facility.

23. Respondent characterized its hazardous waste solvent, ink, press-wash, and coatings
waste ag hazardous waste D001, FOO3.

24. Respondent stored, transported, disposed of, or otherwise Iﬁandled its generated
hazardbus waste in a “container”, as that term is defined under WAC NR 660.10(14) and 40
C.FR. §260.10.

25. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Respondent’s hazardous waste press wash
(“UV Waste”, “UV Coatings”, and “UV Wash Waste”), was a “soliq waste” ag that term is
defined under WAC NR 661.02 and 40 C.F.R. § 261.2. | |

26. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Respondent’s hazardous waste press wash
(“UV Waste”, “UV Coatings”, and “1TV Wash Waste™) was a “hazardous waste” as that term is
defined under WACNR 661.03 and 40 C.F.R. § 261.3. Respondent manages and ships this
waste on hazardous waste manifests as a D001 and F003 hazardous waste. |

27. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Respondeni’s holding of its generated



hazardous waste press wash (“UV Waste”, “UV Coatings”, and “UV Wash Waste™) in 55-gallon
drums constituted hazardous waste “storage,” as that term is defined under WAC NR
660.10(112) and 40 CF.R. § 260.10.

28. Res,pondent. is a “senerator,” as that term is defined under WAC NR 660.10(50) and
40 C.F.R. § 260.10. | |

29, Réspondent is a “large quantity generator,” as that term is defined under WAC NR
660.10(70m).

?;0._ Respondent generated and managed hazardous waste at the Facility after November
19,1980. | e

31. On Februaty 27, 2014, U.S. EPA and the Wisconsin Department of Natural
Resources (WDNR) conducted a Compliance Evaluation Inspection of the Facility (the
inspection).

32. During the inspection of records, the inspectors’ review ol waste determinations
indicated that there was rio profile or waste de’termi.nation documentation provided for the
distillation excess solvent waste stream.

33. During the inspection of the Sheet Fed Press Room, the inspectors observed the
distillation uaﬁt satellite accumulation area (SAA). Inside the unit, there was one 55-gallon drum
tabeled as “Hazardous Waste.” Mr. Todd Schuh, Facilities Manager, stated that the waste
solvent introduced into the distillation unit was non-hazardous waste and was not sure if the
entire waste stream (excess solvent not d.istillec_l) was hazardous waste ornot. In con'g:spundencé
dated March 28, 2014, Outlook Group indicated that it needed to have the waste stream analyzed
to understand the breakdown of solvent, alcohol and solids therein.

34. During the inspection of the Press # 4 area, the inspectors observed a SAA that



“consisted of one 55-gallon dﬁlm. l;lie drum was labeled as “Hazardous Waste” and “UV Waste”,
‘and was open (bung hole open). There was no waste being added or removed from the container
at the time of inspection.

35. During th'e. iﬁsﬁection of the Solvent Mixing Room, the inspectors observed a .SAA
that consisted of one 55-gallon drum containing waste generated I’mm.the Wide Web Based
Printing Room. The drom was labeled as “Hazardous Waste™ and was open .(buug hole open).
”ifhére was no waste being added or removed from the container at the time of inspection. Also,
the SAA drum was not under the control of the operator of the process that gencrated the waste,
since thé Solvent Mixing Reom was a completely separated érca (exialosion proof Toom with | )
walls and a elosed door) frbm the Wide Web Based Printing Room where the wasle stream was
generated.

36. During the inspection of records, the inspectors’ review of Iﬁaiﬁfésts indicated that
manifests are not kept on-site for at least 3 yéars. There were no TSD signed manifest copies

available on-site for all seven hazardous waste shipments in 2013. There were no TSD signed
ménifest coples available on-site for four of the five hazardous waste shipments in 2012. There
were no signed generator or TSD manifest copies available or_x-éitc for all four hazardous waste
shipments. There were no manifests kept- for 201 1. Outlook Group subﬁnitteci correspondence,
dated Mazch 3, 2014, which indicated that the above-referenced manifests were not on-site and
L had to be requested from the TSD (Badger Disposal of WI).

37. During the inspection of records, Mr. Schuh stated that there are no inspeciions
conducted on the facility’s spill control kits. |

38. During the inspection of the 90-Day Hazardous Waste Storage Area, the inspectors

observed that the aisle space was insufficient, since Mr. Schuli had to move and separate the



drums in order for all of the labels to be visible for inspection.

3%. During thé inspection of records and the review of the contingency plan, the
inspectors did not find documentation that copies of the fﬁcﬂity’s contingency plan had been
submifted to the required authorities. Mr. Schuh stated that copies of the contingency plan have
not been sent to all required Iﬁcal emergency authorities.

40. During the inspection of records and the review of the cqﬁﬁﬂgency plan, the
ingpectors Qbéerved that the plan was last revised in December 2006. The primary emefgency
coordinator listed in the plan for the facifity was Rita K. Lynch. Mr Schuh stated that Ms.
{.ynch had not been employed at the facilitjf since 2010, Mr. Schuh stated that he is currently the
primafY emergency coordinator and Jim Zeman (facility Plant Mmager) was the alternate
CIHIETZENCY coordinator._

41, During the inspection of the facility’s contingency plan, the inspectors observed that
the plan did not include the following: location descriptions for the decontamination equipment
(eye wash stations and emergency shower) and descriptions and locations for the fire control
equipment and spill control equipment at the faciiify.

42. During the inspection of the Maintenance Area, the inspectors observed that there
were two cylindrical coﬁtainers that contéimd spent four-foot fluorescent bulbs, as stated by Mr.
Schuh; The inspectors bbseryed that the containers were not labeled and both containers were
closed, The inspectors observed another box that contained spent infrared bulbs, as stated by M.
Schuh. The box wa;s not labeled and was open. The inspectors cbserved another box that
contained spent infrared halogen lamps, as stated by Mr. Schuh. The box was not labeled and
was closed. Finﬂly, the inspectors observed two boxes that contained spent fou;-foot {fluorescent

bulbs, as stated by Mr. Schuh. The boxes were not labeled and both boxes were closed.



43. Correspondence from Outlook Group, dated April 4, 2014, indicates that ten
employees required RCRA hazardous waste training because of transfer or new lﬁre into
hazardous waste management positions and that fraining of these employeeé had not been
documented since 2009 (September 2010 was the oldest app]icabie new hire or fransfer date.)r

44. During the inspection of fecords and training documents, the inspectors observed
that there was no current RCRA hazardous waste management training program in place at the |
facility. Mr. Schuh stated that the facility annual RCRA trainings had been conducted in the past
and the most recent RCRA trah;ing documentation will be forthcoming, The inspectors observed
that there were no facﬂit.y' annual RCRA traiﬁjng sigh-in sheets or other documentation
indicating that the ammal.RCRA trainings were conducted and received. Cutlook Group
submitied correspondence, date(i Marﬁh 12, 2614, that indicated that the most recent documented
RCRA harzardous waste traimng had occurred on Dﬁ:éember 16 and 17, 2009. Also, there was no
documentation of training tecord réqﬁirements provided that indicated the fotlowing: employees’
namnes and job titlesrelated to hazardous waste management, job descriptions for each job title
related to hazardons waste manage-nllent, and the type and amowunt of hoth introductory and

_ continuing training o be given to Veach employee filling a pnsi‘zioﬁ of hazardous waste |
management.

45, On Iuly 10, 2014, U.S. EPA issued a Notice of Violation to Respondent alleging
certain violations of RCRA discovered during the mspection.

46. Respondent sent correspendence to U.S, EPA addressing the violations cited in ’the.
NOV on February 28, 2014, April 18, 2014, August 6, 2014, August 28, 2014, Iand January 15,
2015,

47. At all times relevant 1o this Complaint, the State of Wisconsin had not issued a



license to Respeﬁdent o freat, .store, or dispose of haza:fdous waste af its Facility.

48. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Respondent did not have interim status for
the treamlent; storage, or disposal of hazardous waste at its Facility.

49, Respondent submitted a Hazardous Waste Notification, dated April 24,1999, to
U.S. EPA for the Facility.

50. Inils Hazardous Waste Notification dated April 24, 1999, Respondent identified

itself as a generator.

51.  Atall times relevant to this Complaint, Respondent generated more than 1000 kg of '

~ hazardous waste in a calendar month, at the Facility.

Count 1: Storage of Hazardous Waste Without a License or Interim Status

52. Complainant incorporates paragraphs 1 through 51 of this Complaint as though set
forth in this paragraph.

.53, Pursuant to 3005(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S5.C. § 6925(a) and the regulations at 40 C.F.R.
Part 270, the treatment, storage,l or disposal of hazardous waste by any person who has not |
applied for or received a license is prohibited.

54, A large quantity generator must 1m=;et all the applicable conditions necessary to
exempt it from the requirement to obtain a hazardous waste storage license for generators of
hazardous waste. See WAC NR §§ 662.034(3)(a) and 662.034(3)(a)(1), 670.001, 670.010, and
670.013 [40 C.F.R. §§ 262.34(c)(1) and 262.34(0){1}('1), 276.1({:), 270.10(s) and (d), and
270.13].

55. A generator may ac-cumuiate as much ﬁs 55 gallons 'of hazardous waste or one guart

of acutely hazardous waste listed in s. NR 661.33 (5) in containers at or near any point of A



generation where wastes initially accumulate, which is under the control of the operator of the
process gencrating the waste, without an operating license or interim license and without
complying with WAC, NR § 662,034 sub. (1) provided the generator complies with ss. NR:
665.0171, 665.0172 and 665.0173(1). Specifically, a container holding hazardous waste must
always be closed during. sforage, except when it is necessary to add or remove waste. See WAC,
NR § 662.034(3)(2) and 662.034(3)(a)}(1) 40 CF.R. § 262:34(0)(1) and 262.34(c)(1)H)].

56. Inorder for a generator of hazardous waste to maintain its exemption from the
requirement to have an operéting license or interim status, it must be in compliance with the
conditions of WAC, NR § 662.-034(1), (2) and (3) [40 C.F.R. § 262.34(a), (b) and (c).]

57. During the inspection of the Press # 4 area, the inspectors observed a SAA that
consisted of one 55-gallon dram. The drum was Iabeled ag “Hazardous Waste” and “UV
Waste”, and was open (bung hole open). There was no waste being added or removed from the
coniainer at th-e time of inspection.

| 58. During the inspection of tﬁe Solvent Mixing Room, the inspectors observed a SAA
that consisted of one 55-gallon drum containing waste generated from the Wide Web Based
Printing Room. The drum was labeled as “Hazardous Waste” and was open (bung hole open).
There was no waste being added or removed from the container at the time Qf inspection. Also,
the SAA drum was not under the control of the operator of the process that generated the waste,
since the Solvent Mixing Room was a completely separated area (explésion proof room with
walls and a closed door) from the Wide Web Based Printing Room where the waste stream was
generated.

59. Accordingly, Respondent failed to satisfy all of the conditions for matataining its

exemption from the requirement that it have an-operating license or interim status.
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60. As aresult of Respondent’s failure to meet all of the applicable conditions for the
generafor exemption provided by WAC, NR § 662.034(1-), (2) and (3}, 40 C.F.R. § 262.34(a), (b)
and {c), Respondent became an operator of a hazardous waste treatment, si‘oragé, and disposal
facility (TSDF).

61. Therefore, Respondent’s sterage of hazardous waste without a license or inferim
status violated Section 30G5 of RCRAE 42 US.C. § 6925(a) and the requirements of WAC, NR §

670.001, 670.010, and 670.013, 40 C.F.R. §§ 270.1(c) and 270.10(2) and (d), and 270.13.

Count Z: Failure T'o Determine and Document Hazardous Waste Status

62. Comialainant incorporates paragraphs 1 through 51 of this Complaint as though set
forth in this paragraph. |

63. A person, who generates a solid waste, shall determine if that waste is a hazardous
waste. See WAC NR § 662.011, 40 C.FR. § 262.11.

64, A generatof must keep records of any test rcsﬁlts, waste analyses or other
determinations made in accordance with WAC NR § 662.011 for at least 3 years from the date
that the waste was last sent to on-—site or off-site freatment, storage ot disposal, See WACNR §
662.040(3) [40 C.F..R. § 262.40(c)}. |

65 f" Duriﬁg' the nspéction of records, the inspectors’ review of waste determinations
indicated that there was no profile or waste determination documentation provided for the
distillation excess solvent waste stream.

66. Therefore, Respondent’s failure to determine whether the abave referenced waste
was a hazardous waste is a violation of the generator waste determination requirement under.

WAC, NR § 662.011 [40 C.F.R. § 262.11]. Respondent also violated the requirement to keep

11



records of any test results, waste analyses or other determinations made in accordance with
WACNR. § 662.011 for at least 3 years from the date that the waste was last sent to-on—siie or

off—site treatment, storage or disposal under WAC, NR § 662.040(3), 40 C.F.R. § 262.40(c).

Count 3 Faﬂure to Retain Beqguired Records

67. Complainant incorperates paragraphs 1 through 51 of this Complaint as thbugh set
forth in this paragrapﬁ. o

68. A generator shall keep a copy of each manifest signed in accordance with WAC,
NR § 662.023(1) for 3 years or until the generator receives a signed copy from the designated
facility which received the waste. This signed copy shall be retained as a record for at least 3
years from the date thé waste was accepted by the initjal transporter. See WAC NR § 66;2.040(1)
40 CF.R. § 262.40(a)]. | |

- 69, Dm-iﬁg the inspection of recor‘ds, the inspectors” review of manifests indicated that

mmﬁfests are not kept on-site for at least 3 years. There were no TSD signed manifest copies
available on-site for all seven hazardous waste shipments in 2013. There were no TSD signed
manifest copies available on-site for four of the five hazardous waste shipments in 2012, There
were no signed generator or TSD manifest copies ayailable on-site for all foar hazardous waste
shipments. There were no manifests kept for 2011. Outlock Group submitted correspondence,
dated March 3, 2014, which indicated that the above-referenced manifests were not og—site and
had to be requested from the TSD (Badgér Disposal of W1).

70, Therefore, Respondent’s failure to retain a copy of the above referenced manifest is

a violation of WAC NR § 662.040(1) [40 C.FR. § 262.40(a)].
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Count 4: Vislations of Preparedness and Prevention Regquirements for 2 License

Fxemption

71. Complainant incorporates paragraphs 1 ﬂmﬁugh 51 of this Complaint ar; though set
forth in this paragraph.

72. In order to accumulate hazardous waste on-site for 20 days or less without an
operating iicens% or interim license, a generator”s facility lcﬁommunications ot alarm systems, fire '
protection equipment, spill control equipment and decontamination equipment, where required,
must be tested and maintained as necessary to assure its proper operation in time of emergency.
See WAC NR § 662.034(1)(d) [40 C.E.R. § 262.34(a)(4)]; WAC, NR § 665.0033 [40 CF.R. §
265.33]. This is also a requirement applicable to owners and operators of hazardous waste
storage facilifies inder WAC NR § 664.0033 [40 C.F.R. § 264.33].

73. Inorderfo accumulate hazardous waste on-site for 90 days or less without an
operating license or interim license, a generator shall maintain aisle space to allow the
unobstructed movement of persomnel, fire protection equipment, spill coutrpl equipment and
decontamination equipment to any area of facility operation in an emergency, ur_;léss aisle space
is not needed for any of these purposes. See WAC, NR § 662.034(1)}(d) [40 CFR. §
262.34(a)}()]; WAC, NR § 665.0035 [4¢ C.F.R. § 265.35]. These are also requirements
applicable to owners and operators of hazardous waste storage facilities under WAC, NR. §
664.0035 [40 CEF.R. § 264.35).

74.- During the inspection of records, Mr. Schuh stated that thete are no inspections
conducted on the facility’s spill control kits. |

75, Dhuing the inspection of the 90-Day Hazardous Waste Storage Area, the inspectors

observed that the aisle space was insufficient, since Mr. Schuh had to move and separate the
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drums in order for all of the labels to be visible for inspection.

76. Therefore, Respondent’s failure to comply with the condition for a license
exemption, and the above-teferenced emerge;ncy equipment maintenance and storage facility
aisle space requirements is a violation of WAC NR § 662.034(1){d) [40 CF.R. § 262.34(a)(4)];

WAC, NR § 665.0035 [40 C.I.R. § 265.35] and WAC NR § 664.0035 [40 C.F.R. § 264.35).

Count 5: Violations of Training Requiremei_lts for a License Exemption
77, Compiaiﬁ.ant incorporates paragraphs 1 through 51 of this Complaint as thongh sef
forth in this paragraph.
78. Inorder to accumulate hazardous v;raste on-site far 90 days or less without an
operating license or interim Heense, generator facility personnel must successfully complete the
| program required 1.11 WACNR § 665.0016(1) within 6 months after August 1, 2006 or 6 months
after the date. of their employment or assignment to a facility, 01" to a new position at a facility,
whichever is [ater, Employees hired after Angust 1, 2086 may not work in unsuper\riséd
positions until they have completed the h‘éining requirements of WAC NR § 665.0016(1). WAC
NR § 662.034(1)(d) [40 C.E.R. § 262.34(a)(4)]; WAC NR § 665.0016(2) 40 C.F.R. §
1265.16(b)]. These are also requirements applicable to owners and operators of hazardous waste
storage facilitics under WAC NR § 664.0016(2) [40 CF R, § 264.16(b)]. |
79. In order to accumulate hazardous waste on-site for 90 day.*s or less without an
oiaerating iiqense or interim license, generator facility personnel must take part in an annual
review of the initial training required in WAC NR § 665.0016(1), and a generator must maintain

all of the following documents and records at the facility: The job title for each position at the

facility related to hazardous waste management, and the name of the employee filling cach job.
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A written job description for each position listed under WAC NR § 665.0016(4)(a). This
description may be consistent in its degree of specificity with descriptions for other similar
pdsiﬁo_ﬂs in the same conmpany location or bargaining usit, but must include the requisite skill,
education or other qualifications, and duties of facility personnel assigned to each position. A
written description of the type and amount of both introductory and continuing training that will
be given to each person filling a position lisied under WAC NR § 665.0016(4)(a). Records that |
document that the training or jﬁb experience required under WAC NR § 665.001 6(1)-(3) has |
been given to, and completed by, facility personnel. See WACNR § 662.034(1)(d) [40 CFR. §
262.34(a)(]; WAC NR § 665.0016(3) and (4)(a)-(d) [40 C.F.R. §265.16{c}and (d)(1)-{4)].
These are also requirements applicable to owners and operators of hazardous waste storage
facilities under WAC NR § 664.0016(3) and (4)(a)-(d) [40 C.F.R. § 264.16(c) and (d)(1)-(4}].

80. _Din‘ing the inspection of records and training documents, the inspectors cbserved
that there was no éurrent RCRA hazardous waste managenleﬁt training program in place at {he
facility. The inspectors observed that th;;;re were no facility annual RCRA training sign-in sheets
of other documentation indicating that the annual RCRA trainings were conducted and received.
QOutlook Group submitted correspondence, dated March 12, 2014, that indicated that the most
recent documented RCRA hazardous waste training had occurred on December 16 and 17, 2009.
Also, there was no documentation of training record 1‘eéuirements provided that indicated the
following: employees’ names and job titles related to hazardous waste management, job
descriptions for each job title related to hazardous waste management, and the type and amount
of both introductory and continuing training to be given to each employee filling a position of
hazardous waste managenent.

81. Correspondence from Cutlook Group, dated April 4, 2014, indicates that ten -



employees required RCRA hazardous waste training because of transfer or new hjw into
hazardous waste management positions and that training of these employees had not beeﬁ
documented since 2009 {September 2610 was the oldest applicable new hire or fransfer date.)
82. 'i’hgr«_%fcl'e, Respondentfs failure to ensure that facility personnel have successfully
completed the training required in WAC NR § 665.0016 is a violation of WAC NR §
662.034(1)(d), [40 CEF.R. §.262.34(2)(4)]: WAC NR § 665.0016(2), [40 C.F.R. § 265.16(b)];
WAC NR § 665.0016(3) and (4)(a)-(d) [40 C.F.R. § 265.16(c) a;nd (d}(l):(ll)]. These are also
requirements applicable to owners and operators of hazardous waste storage facilities under
WACNR § 664.0016(2) [40 CFR. § 264.16(b}]; WACNR § 664.0016(3) and ($){a)-(d) [40'

CFR. § 264.16(c) and (d)(1)-@)1.

" Count 6: Violations of Contingency Plan Requirements for a License Exemption

83. Complainant incorporates paragraphs 1 through 51 of this Complaint as though set
forth iil this paragraph. |

84. | In order to accumuilate hazardous waste on-site for 90 days or less without an
operating Hcense or interim license, a generator must ensure its contingency plan is submitted to
all local police departments, fire departments, hospitals and state and local emergeﬁcy Tesponse
teams that may be called upon to provide emergency services. See WAC NR § 662.034(1)(d) [40
C.F.R. § 262.34(a}(4)]; WAC, NR § 665.0053(2) [40 CF.R. § 265.53(b)]. Thisisalsoa
requirement applicable to owners and operators of hazardous waste storage facilities under
WAC, NR § 664.0053(2) [40 CER. § 264.53(b)].

85. In order to accumulate hazardous waste on-site for 90 days or less without an

operating license or interim license, a generator must ensure its contingency plan lists names,
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addresses and phone numbers (ofﬁce énd hame) of all persons qualifled o act as emergency
cﬁordinator (WACNR § 664.0055), and this list must be kept up to date. Where more than one
person is listed, one must be named as primary emergency ceordinator and others must be listed
in the order in which they will assume responsibility as alternates. See WACNR § -
662.034(1)(d) [40 C.FR. § 262.34(a)(4)}; WAC NR § 665.0052(4) [40 C.F.R. § 265.52(d)].
These are also requirements applicable to owners and operators of hazardous waste storage
facilities Lmder WACNR § 664.0052(4) [40 CEF.R. § 264.52(d)).

86. In order to accumulate hazardous waste on-site for 90 days or less withoutan
0pe1atu1g license or mterlm license a generator’s contmgency plan must be teviewed, and
immediately amended, if necessary, whenever any of the following occurs; Apphcabie rules or
the facility interim license are revised; the plan fails in an emergency; the facility changes—in its
design, censtruction; Dperéﬁoﬁ, maintenance or other eircumstances—in a way that materially
increases the potenﬁal for fires, explosions or releases of hazardous wéste or hazardous waste
constituents, or changes the response nécessa:ry in an emergency; or the list of emergency
coordinators changes. See WAC NR § 662.034(1)(d) [40 C.ER. § 262.34(a)(H)]; WAC,NR §
665.0054(4) [40 C.F.R. § 265.54(a-d)]. These are also requirements applicﬁble to owners and
operators of hazardous waste storage facilities under See WAC NR § 664.0054(4) [40 CER.
§264.54(a-d)].

87. Tn ordes to accumulate hazardous waste on-site for 90 days or less without an
operating license or interim license, a generator must ensure its contingency plan ﬁ:u:ludes alist
of all emergency equipment at the facility (such. as fire extinguishing systems, spill control
equipment, communications and alarm systemsﬂ(i_ntemal- and extemnal) and decontamination

equipment), where this equipment is required. This list must be kept up to date. In addition, the
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plan must include the location and a physical description of each item on the list, and a brief
outline of its capabilities. See WAC NR §I662.03'4(])(d) [40 C.F;R. 8 262.34(&)(4)1; WAC, NR §
665.0052(5) 40 CFR. § 265.5’2(6)]; Thesé are also reqﬁirements applicable to owners and
operators of hazardous waste storage facilities under WAC, NR-§ 664.0052(5) [40 CF.R. §
264.52{e)].

88. During the inspection of records and the review of the contingency plan, the
inspectors did not ﬁnd documentation that copies of the facility’s contingency plan had been

_submitted to the required authorities. |

89. During the inspection of records and ﬂie review of the contingency plan, the
inspectors observed that the plan was last revlised in December 2006, and that the primary
CMErgency coordinator listed in the plan for the facility had not been employed af the facility
since 2010. |

90. During the inspection of the 'facﬂzi_ty’ § conﬁngency plan, tﬁe inspectors observed th-at
the plan did not include the following: location descriptions for the decontamination equipment.
(eye wash stations and emergency shower) and deseriptions and locations for the fire control -
equipment and spill control equipment at the facility.

91. Therefore,' Respondent’s failure to maintaim the afcrementioned contingency plan
requirements is a violation of WAC NR § 662.034(1)(d) [40 C.F.R. § 262.34(a)}(4)}; WACNR §
665.0052(4) |40 C.F.R. § 265 .Si(d)]; WAC, NR § 663.0052(5) [40 C.F.R. § 265.52(2)]; WAC,
NR § 665.0053(2) [40 C.F.R. § 265.53(b)]; WAC, NR § 665.0054{4) [40 C.F.R. § 265.54(a-d)].
These are also requirements applicable to owners and operators of hazardous waste storage
facilities under WAC NR § 664.0052(4) [4(} CFR.§ ;’264.52(d)]; WAC,. NR § 664.0052(5) [40

CER. § 264.52(c)]: WAC, NR § 664.0053(2) [40 C.ER. § 264.53(0)}; WAC NR § 664.0054(4)
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[40 C.FR. §264.54(a-d}).

Count 7: Vielation of the Universal Waste Requirement

92, Complainant incorporates paragraphs 1 through 51 of this Complaint as though set
forth in this éara grapa.

93. A small quantity handler of unjveréai waste shall contain any lamp in containers or
packages that are structurally souﬁd, adequate to prevent breakage and compatible with the
conténts bf the lamps. The containers and packages shall remain closed and shall Iack evidence
of leakage, spillage or damage that could cause leakage under reasonably foreseeable conditions.
See WAC NR § 673.13(4)(=) [40 C.F.R. § 273.13(d)(1)].

| 94. A small quantity handler of universal waste shall ensure that each lamp or a
container of package in which the lamps.are contained shall be labeled or marked clearly with
the phrase “Universal _Waste—Lamps”, “Waste Lamps” or “Used Lamps”. See WAC NR &
673.14(5) [40 CF.R. § 273.14(2)].

05. A small quantity handler of wniversal waste must inform all employees who handle
or have responsibility for managing universal waste. The infcrmation must describe proper
handling and emergency procedures appmpriate_to_the type.s of universal waste handled at the
facility. See WAC NR § 673.16 [40 C.F.R. § 273.16].

96. During the inspection of the maintenance area at the Facility, the mspectors
observed: two cylindrical containers that contained spent four-foot fluorescent bulbs which were
both closed and not labeied, one box that contained spent infrared bulbs which was open and not
labeled, one box that contained spent infrared halogen lamps that was closed and not lzbeled, and

two boxes that contained spent four-foot fluorescent buibs which were closed and not labeled.
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97. Therefore, Respondent’s failed to comply with the aforementioned universal waste
requirements imn WAC NR § 673.13(4)(a) [40 C.EF.R. § 273.13(d} 1)}, WAC NR § 673.14(3) [40

C.F.R. §273.14(c)], and WAC NR § 673.16 [40 CF.R. § 273.16].

Civil Penalty

98. Pursuant to section 3008(2)(3) of RCRA, 42 U.5.C. § 6928(a)(3), Complainant
detérmjned that an appropriate civil penaltyl to settle this action is $10,845. In determining the
pénalty amount, Complainant took into account the seriousness of the violations and any good
faith efforts to comply with the applicable requjrements.. Complainant has also considered the
facts and circumstances of this case with specilic reference to US EPA’s 2003 RCRA Civil
Penalty Policy. .

99. Within 30 days after the effective date of this CAF Q, Respondent must pay a
$10,845 civil penalty for the RCRA violations by ACH electronic funds transfer, payable to the
“Treasurer, United States of America,” to: 7

US Treasury REX / Cashlink ACH Receiver

ABA: 051036706

Account Number: 310006, Environmental Protection Agency
CTX Format Transaction Code 22 — checking

100. This civil penalty is not deductible for federal tax purposes.

101. If Respondent does not timely pay the civil penalty, and perform the LED lighting
project at the facility that includes the retroﬁttiﬁg of the facility’s current fluorescent lighting
fixtures in approximately 300,000 square foot of building space, U.S. EPA may bring an action
to collect any tmpai& portion of the penalty with interest, handling charges, nonpayment

penalties, and the United States enforcement expenses for the collection action. ' The validity,
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amotunt, and appropriateness of the civil penalty are not reviewable in a collection action.

102, fursuant t0 31 C.F.R.'§ 901.9, Respondent must pay the following on any amount
overdue under this CAFOQ. Interest will accrue on any emount overdue from the date payment
was due at a rate established by the Secretary of the Treasury pursuant to 31 US.C. § 3717(&)(1.). |
Respondent must pay a $15 handling lchaxge each m()ﬂtﬁ that any portion of the penalty is more
than 30 days past due. In addition, Respondent must pay a 6 percent per year penalty on any

principal ameunt 90 days past due.

Supnlemental Environmental Project

103. . Respondent must complete a supplemenfa] environmental project (SEP) desighed
to protect the envivonment that will sub.stantially reduce and or eliminate the facility’s generated
universal waste lamp waste stream.

104,  Atits facility located at 1180 American Drive, Neenﬁh, Wiscansin; Respondent
must complete the SEF as follows: Perform an LED lighting project at the facility that would
include retrofitting of the facility’s current fluorescent lighting fixtures in approximately 306,000
square foot of building space. The LED lighting projef,t must be completed within six months
from the effective date of this CAFO.

105. Respondent must spend at least $80,000 to purchase and to install the equipment.

106. In thé LED lighting project, Respondent muét not use any lamp or lighting device
that is more toxic or hazardous than the current or eliminated lamp or ]ightiﬁg device.
Respondent must use Material Safety Data Sheets to determine the lamp or ligh;ing 'dévice’s
toxic and hazardoﬁs characteristics.

107. Respondent must continuously use or operate the LED lighting for at least five

year(s) following its instailation.
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108. Respondent certifies that it is not required to perform or develop the SEP _by any -
law, regalation, grant, order, or agreelﬁent, or as injunctive relief as olf the date it signs this
CAFO. Respondent further certifies that it has not received, and is not negotiating to recetve,

credit for the SEP in any other enforcement action.

109. U.S. EPA may inspect the facility at any time to monitor Respondent’s compliance
with this CAFO’s SEP Iéquiremenis.

110. Respondent must submit a SEP completion report to U.S. EPA within two months of
completion of the SEP project under paragraph 104. This report must contain the followiﬂé
information:

 a. Detailed description of the SEP as completed;

b. Description of any operating problems and the actions taken to correct the -
problems; '

¢. Itemized costs of goods and services used to complete the SEP decumented by
copies of invoices, purchase orders, or canceled checks that specifically identify
and itemize the individual costs of the goods and services;

d. Certification that Respondent has completed the SEP in compliance with this
CAFQ; and

e. Description of the environmental and public health benefits resulting from the
SEP (quantify the benefits and pollution reductions, if feasible).

_ 111. Respondent must submit all notices and reports required by this CAFO by first class
or overnight mail to Bryan Gangwisch of the RCRA Branch.
| 112. In each report that Respondent submits as provided By this CAFO, it must certify
that the report is tnie and complete by including the following statement signed by one of its -
officers:
I certify that I am familiar with tﬁe information in this document and that,

based on my inqguiry of those individuals responsible for obtaining the
information, it is true and complete to the best of my kunowledge. I know
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that there are significant penalties for submitting false information,
including the possibility of fines and imprisonment for knowing violations,

113. Following receipt of the SEP completion report described in paragraph 110, above,
1J.S. EPA must notify Respondent in writing that:
a. Respondent has satisfactorily completed the SEP and the SEP report;

b. There are deficiencies in the SEP as completed or in the SEP report and
U.S. EPA will give Respondent 30 days to correct the deficiencies; or

¢. It has not satisfactorily completed the SEP or the SEP report and U.S. EPA will
seck stipulated penalties under paragraph 115.

114. If U.S. EPA exercises option b, above, Respondent may object in writing to the
deficiency notice within ten days of receiving the notice. The parties will have 30 days from
U.S. EPA’s receipt of Respondent’s objection to reach an agreement. If the partics cannot reach
an agreement, U.S. EPA will give Respondent a written decision on its objection. Respondent
wilt comply with any requirements that U.S. EPA imposes in its decision. If Respondent does
not complete the SEP as required by U.S. EPA’s decision, Respondent will pay stipulated
penaliies to the United States under paragraph, below.

115. If Respondent violates any requirement of this CAFO relating to the SEP,
Respondent must pay stipulated penalties to the United States as follows:

a. Except as provided in subparagraph b, below, if Respendent did not complete the
SEP satisfactorily according to the requirements of this CAFO including the
schedule in paragraph 104, Respondent must pay a penalty of $ 32,535.

b. If Respondent did not complete the SEP satisfactorily, but U.S. EPA determines
that Respondent (i) made good faith and timely efforts to complete the SEP and (ii)
certified, with supporting documents, that it spent at least 90 percent of the amount
set forth in paragraph 103, Respondent will not be liable for a stipulated penalty

under subparagraph a, above.

¢. If Respondent completed the SEP satisfactorily, but spent less than 90 percent of
the amount sct forth in paragraph 103, Respondent must pay a penalty of $6,307.
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d. IfRespondeﬁt did not timely submit the SEP completion report, Respondent
must pay penalties in the following amounts for each day after the report was due
until it submits the report:

Penalty per violation per day Period of vielation
$250 1% through 141 day
500 15 throngh 30™ day
$1000 31 day and beyond

116. U.S. EPA’s determinations of whether Respondent satisfactorily completed the SEP
and whether Respondent made good faith and timely efforts to complete the SEP will bind
Respondent.

117. Respondent must pay any stipulated penalties within 15 days of receiving
11.S. EPA’s written demand for the penalties. Respondent will use the method of payment
specified in paragraph 99, above, and will pay interest, handling charges, and nonpayment
penalties on any overdue amounts,

118. Any public statement that Respondent makes referring to the SEP must include the
following language, “Outlook Group Corp, undertook this project under the settlement of the
United States Environmental Protection Agency’s enforcement action against Outlook Group.
Corp., for violations of RCRA.”

119. Force Majém‘e — If an event occurs which causes or may cause a delay in completing
the SEP as required by this CAFO: -

a, Respondent must notify U.S. EPA in writing within ten days after learning of an
event which caused or may cause a delay in completing the SEP. The notice must
describe the anticipated length of the delay, its cause(s), Respondent’s past, current
and proposed actions to prevent or minimize the delay, and a schedule to carry out
those actions. Respondent must take all reasonable actions to avoid or minimize
any defay. If Respondent fails to notify U.S. EPA according to this paragraph,
Respondent will not receive an extension of time to complete the SEP.

b. If the parties agree that circumstances beyond the control of Respondent caused

or may cause a delay in completing the SEP, the parties will stipulate to an
extension of time no longer than the périod of delay.
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c. IfU.S. EPA does not agree that circumstances beyond the control of Respondent
caused or may cause a delay in completing the SEP, U.S. EPA will notily
Respondent in writing of its decision and any delay in completing the SEP will not
be excused. '

d. Respondent has the burden of proving that circumastances beyond its control
caused or may cause a delay in completing the SEP. Increased costs for completing
the SEP will not be a basis for an extension of time under subparagraph b, above.
Delay in achieving an interim step will not necessarily justify or excuse delay in
achieving subsequent steps. '

120, Nothing n this CAFQ is intended to, nor will be construed to, constitute U.5. EPA
appmvai of the equipment installed by the Respondent in connection with the SEP under this -
CAFO.

121. For Federal Income Tax purposes, Respondent will neither capitalize into inventory

or basis, nor deduct any costs or expenditures incurred in performing the SEP. _

General Provisions

122. This CAFO resolves only Respond ent’s liability for federat civil penaltiesfor the
violations aﬂd tacts alleged in the CAFO.

123. This CAFO does not affect the right of U.S. EPA or the United States to pursue
appropriate injunciive or other equitable relief or criminal sanctions for any violations of law.

124, This CAFO does not affect Respondent’s responsibility to comply with RCRA and
other applicable federal, stafe, local laws or permits.

| 125, This CAFQ is a “final order” for purposes of 40 CFR. § 22.31, U.S. EPA’s RCRA

Civil Penalty Policy, élid US EPA’s Hazardous Waste Civil Enforcement Response Policjr
(December 2003).

126, The terms of this CAF O bind Respondent, ifs successors, and assigns.

127. Bach person signing this agreement certifies that he or she has the anthority to sign
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for the party whom he or she represents and to bind that party to its terms,
128. Each party agrees to bear its own cosis and attorney’s fees in this action.
129. This CAFO constitutes the entire agreement between the parties.
130. Consistent with the “Standing Order Authorizing E-Mail Service of Order and Other
| Documents Issued by the Regional Administrator or Regional Judicial Officer Under the

Consolidated Rules,” dated March 27, 2015, the parties consent to service of this CAFO by e-

mail at the following valid e-mail addresses: glowacki.joanna@epa.gov (for Complainant}, and
jodi@lecojlaw.com (for Respondent). The parties waive their right to service by the methods

specified in 40 C.E.R. § 22.6.
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Outiook Group Corp., Respondent

4 il@ g’{"%\ MQ«@/\
Date ' (Jo Cap%y, President '
_ ' roup, Corp.

United States Environmental Protection Agency, Complainant

0t /27/ )] il

Date Igna,c,lo L. Arrdzola
Acting Director
Land and Chemicals Division
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In the Matter of:
Outlook Gronp, Corp.
Docket No. pCRA- 95,,2{}17.,9{}13

Final Order
‘This Consent Agreement and Final Order, as agreed to by the parties, shall becoiie
effective immediately upon filing with the Regional Hearing Clerk. This Final Order concludes

this proceeding pursuant to 40 CF.R. §§ 22.18 and 22.31. IT IS SO ORDERED.

% . ‘ 'l".
-, ‘L - ? - (\ /,}: {i

Bt 2Sh Lty S
Date ArmL Coyle 0
' Regional Tudicial Officer
United States Environmental Protection Agency
~ Region 5

e
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Inn the matter of: Outlook Group Corp.
EPA ID Number: %/ D28552¢995
Docket Number: RCRA-05-2017-0013

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

A

I certify that I served a trug and correct copy of thiz foregoing Consent Agreement and Final

~ Order, Docket Number RCRA-65-2017-0013 , which was filed on é?f;ﬁ%@ 9 2T
n the following manner to the addressees: : Zj} e

Copy by e~-mail to _
Attorney for Respondent: Jodi Arndt Labs
' jodii@lcojlaw.com

Copy by e-mail to _
Attorney for Complainant: Joanna Glowacki
glowacki.joanna{@epa.gov

Copy by e-mail to ,
Case Assignee: ’ Bryan Gangwisch
sanewisch.brvan(@epa.cov

Copy by e-mail to
Regional Judicial Officer: Ann Coyle
covle.ann(@epa.gov

(_,,/“’JiaDaﬁn;Whitehead
Regional Hearing Clerk
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 5




